

KNIME Database Extension Guide

KNIME AG, Zurich, Switzerland Version 4.2 (last updated on 2022-08-22)



Table of Contents

Introduction
Port Types1
Connecting to a database
Connecting to predefined databases4
Connecting to other databases7
Register your own JDBC drivers 9
Advanced Database Options
Examples
Reading from a database
Database Metadata Browser
Query Generation
Visual Query Generation
Advanced Query Building
Database Structure Manipulation
DB Table Remover
DB Table Creator
DB Manipulation
DB Delete
DB Writer
DB Insert
DB Update
DB Merge
DB Loader
DB Transaction Nodes
Type Mapping
DB Type Mapper
Migration
Workflow Migration Tool
Node Name Mapping
Server Setup
JDBC drivers on KNIME Server
Default JDBC Parameters
Reserved JDBC Parameters
Example: Oracle

Example: Apache Hive™	73
Example: Apache Impala™	74

Introduction

The KNIME Database Extension provides a set of KNIME nodes that allow connecting to JDBC-compliant databases. These nodes reside in the *DB* category in the Node Repository, where you can find a number of database access, manipulation and writing nodes.

The database nodes are part of every KNIME Analytics Platform installation. It is not necessary to install any additional KNIME Extensions.

This guide describes the KNIME Database extension, and shows, among other things, how to connect to a database, and how to perform data manipulation inside the database.



Figure 1. Example workflow using DB nodes

Port Types



Figure 2. Two types of Database port

There are two types of ports in the Database extension, the DB Connection port (red) and the DB Data port (dark red).

The *DB Connection* port stores information about the current DB Session, e.g data types, connection properties, JDBC properties, driver information, etc.

The DB Data port contains not only the DB Session, but also the DB Data object, which is

described by a SQL query.

Outport views

After executing a DB node, you can inspect the result in the outport view by right clicking the node and selecting the outport to inspect at the bottom of the menu. For more information on how to execute a node, please refer to the Quickstart Guide.

DB Connection outport view

The outport view of a DB Connection has the *DB Session* tab, which contains the information about the current database session, such as database type, and connection URL.

DB Data outport view

When executing a database manipulation node that has a *DB Data* outport, for example a *DB GroupBy* node, what the node does is to build the necessary SQL query to perform the GroupBy operation selected by the user and forward it to the next node in the workflow. It does not actually execute the query. However, it is possible to inspect a subset of the intermediate result via the DB Data outport view. In addition to information about the *DB Session*, the DB Data outport view contains the preview and specification of the output data.

The *Table Preview* tab in the outport view shows an empty table at the beginning. Clicking on *Cache no. of rows:* will execute the intermediate SQL query and cache a subset of the output which then will be shown in the outport view. By default only the first 100 rows are cached, but you can set your own value at the top.

🛕 DB Data - 0:4 - DB Writer	Δ	DB Data	- 0:4 -	DB Writer
-----------------------------	---	---------	---------	-----------

File												
Table Preview DB	Spec - Columns	: 29 DB Query	DB Session	Flow Variables								
					Cache no. of r	rows: 100						
Row ID	Year	Month	DayofM	DayOf	DepTime	CRSDe	ArrTime	CRSArr	S Unique	FlightNum	S TailNum	
Row0	1987	10	14	3	741	730	912	849	PS	1451	NA	91 🔨
Row1	1987	10	15	4	729	730	903	849	PS	1451	NA	94
Row2	1987	10	17	6	741	730	918	849	PS	1451	NA	97
Row3	1987	10	18	7	729	730	847	849	PS	1451	NA	78
Row4	1987	10	19	1	749	730	922	849	PS	1451	NA	93
Row5	1987	10	21	3	728	730	848	849	PS	1451	NA	80
Row6	1987	10	22	4	728	730	852	849	PS	1451	NA	84
Row7	1987	10	23	5	731	730	902	849	PS	1451	NA	91
Row8	1987	10	24	6	744	730	908	849	PS	1451	NA	84
Row9	1987	10	25	7	729	730	851	849	PS	1451	NA	82
Row10	1987	10	26	1	735	730	904	849	PS	1451	NA	89
Row11	1987	10	28	3	741	725	919	855	PS	1451	NA	98
Row12	1987	10	29	4	742	725	906	855	PS	1451	NA	84
Row13	1987	10	31	6	726	725	848	855	PS	1451	NA	82
Row14	1987	10	1	4	936	915	1035	1001	PS	1451	NA	59
Row15	1987	10	2	5	918	915	1017	1001	PS	1451	NA	59
Row16	1987	10	3	6	928	915	1037	1001	PS	1451	NA	69
Row17	1987	10	4	7	914	915	1003	1001	PS	1451	NA	49
Row 18	1987	10	5	1	1042	915	1129	1001	PS	1451	NA	47
Row 19	1987	10	6	2	934	915	1024	1001	PS	1451	NA	50
Row20	1987	10	7	3	946	915	1037	1001	PS	1451	NA	51
Row21	1987	10	8	4	932	915	1033	1001	PS	1451	NA	61
Row22	1987	10	9	5	947	915	1036	1001	PS	1451	NA	49 🗸
D22	<	140	140	le.	lose -	lose -	14000	11001	lee.	la arta		>

Figure 3. DB Outport View with retrieved rows

1

Depending on the complexity of the SQL query, caching the first 100 rows might take a long time.

The table specification can be inspected in the *DB Spec* tab. It contains the list of columns in the table, with their database types and the corresponding KNIME data types (For more information on the type mapping between database types and KNIME types, please refer to the Type Mapping section. In order to get the table specification, a query that only fetches the metadata but not the data itself is executed during configuration of the node or during execution. Execution of the metadata query during configure can be disabled via the Advanced Tab of the Connector node.

The *DB Query* tab contains the intermediate SQL query that defines the data at this outport. The query consists of the queries that were created in the preceding database nodes, and will only be executed when you want to retrieve the result in a KNIME data table, for example using the *DB Reader* node.

Session Handling

The DB Session lifecycle is managed by the Connector nodes. Executing a Connector node will create a DB Session, and resetting the node or closing the workflow will destroy the corresponding DB Session.

Connecting to a database

The $DB \rightarrow Connection$ subcategory in the Node Repository contains

- a set of database-specific connector nodes for commonly used databases such as Microsoft SQL Server, MySQL, PostgreSQL, H2, etc.
- as well as the generic Database Connector node.

A Connector node creates a connection to a database via its JDBC driver. In the configuration dialog of a Connector node you need to provide information such as the database type, the location of the database, and the authentication method if available.



The database-specific connector nodes already contain the necessary JDBC drivers and provide a configuration dialog that is tailored to the specific database. It is recommended to use these nodes over the generic *DB Connector* node, if possible.

Connecting to predefined databases

The following are some databases that have their own dedicated Connector node:

- Amazon Redshift
- Amazon Athena
- Google BigQuery
- H2
- Microsoft Access
- Microsoft SQL Server
- MySQL
- Oracle
- PostgreSQL
- SQLite
- Vertica

Some dedicated Connector nodes, such as Oracle or Amazon Redshift, come without a JDBC driver due to licensing restriction. If you want to use these

nodes, you need to register the corresponding JDBC driver first. Please refer to the Register your own JDBC drivers section on how to register your own driver. For Amazon Redshift, please refer to the Third-party Database Driver Plug-in section.

If no dedicated connector node exists for your database, you can use the generic *DB Connector* node. For more information on this please refer to the Connecting to other databases section.

After you find the right Connector node for your database, double-click on the node to open the configuration dialog. In the *Connection Settings* window you can provide the basic parameters for your database, such as the database type, dialect, location, or authentication. Then click *Ok* and execute the node to establish a connection.

KNIME Analytics Platform in general provides three different types of connector nodes the File-based Connector node, the Server-based Connector node and the generic Connector nodes which are explained in the following sections.

File-based Connector node

	DDING	Flow Variables	Job Manager Sele	ction	Memory Po	olic
Connection Settings		JDBC Parameters	Input Type Mapping			
Configuration						
Database Dialect:	H2					
Driver Name:	H2					
Location						
O Path:				~ B	rowse	
In-memory:	temporary					

Figure 4. H2 Connector configuration dialog

The figure on the left side shows an example of the node dialog for a file-based database, such as SQLite, H2, or MS Access. The most important node settings are described below:

Configuration: In the configuration window you can choose the registered database dialect and driver.

Location: The location to the database. You can provide either the *path* to an existing database, or choose *in-memory* to create a temporary database that is kept in memory if the database supports this feature.

Server-based Connector node

Output Type Map	oina nas	Flow Variables	Job Manager Selec	tion M	emory Polic
Configuration	.go	JUDC Parameter	s Auvanceu	Input ryp	e Mapping
Database Dialect:	Micros	oft SQL Server			
Driver Name:	jTDS f	or Microsoft SQL Ser	ver		
Location					
Hostname				P	ort
localhost				~	1,433
Database name					
mydatabase				~	
 Credentials 					
credentialVaria	ble				
Username & pas	sword				
○ Kerberos					
-					

Figure 5. MS SQL Server Connector configuration dialog

The figure on the left side shows an example of the node dialog for a serverbased database, such as MySQL, Oracle, or PostgreSQL. The most important node settings are described below.

Configuration: In the configuration window you can choose the registered database dialect and driver.

Location: The location to the database. You should provide the hostname and the port of the machine that hosts the database, and also the name of the database which might be optional depending on the database.

Authentication: Login credentials can either be provided via credential flow variables, or directly in the configuration dialog in the form of username and password. Kerberos authentication is also provided for databases that support this feature, e.g Hive or Impala. For more information on Kerberos authentication, please refer to the Kerberos User Guide.

1

For more information on the JDBC Parameters and Advanced tab, please refer to the JDBC Parameters and Advanced Tab section. The Type Mapping tabs are explained in the Type Mapping section.

Third-party Database Driver Plug-in

As previously mentioned, the dedicated database-specific connector nodes already contain the necessary JDBC drivers. However, some databases require special licensing that prevents us from automatically installing or even bundling the necessary JDBC drivers with the corresponding connector nodes. For example, KNIME provides additional plug-ins to install the official Microsoft SQL Server driver or the Amazon Redshift driver which require special licenses. To install the plug-ins, go to File \rightarrow Install KNIME Extensions.... In the Install window, search for the driver that you need (MS SQL Server or Redshift), and you will see something similar to the figure below. Then select the plug-in to install it. If you don't see the plug-in in this window then it is already installed. After installing the plug-in, restart KNIME. After that, when you open the configuration dialog of the dedicated Connector node, you should see that the installed driver of the respective database is available in the driver name list.

🛆 Install		
Available Software Check the items that you wish to install.		
driver		ß_
Name	Version	^
 Image: A second and a second an	4.0.0.v2019062318 4.0.0.v2019053111 4.0.0.v2019061308 6.2.2.v2019060310	40 27 28 04 ∽
Select All Deselect All 2 items selected		>
	L	A. b.t
✓ Show only the latest versions of available software ✓ Hide items that are a ✓ Group items by category What is <u>already install</u>	lready installed <u>ed</u> ?	
Show only software applicable to target environment		
< Back Next >	Finish	Cancel

Figure 6. Install Window

Connecting to other databases

The generic *DB Connector* node can connect to arbitrary JDBC compliant databases. The most important node settings are described below.

Connection Set		Flow variables	Job Manager Selection	Memory Policy
Connection Set	tings	JDBC Parameters	Advanced	Input Type Mapping
Connection				
Database Type:	Oracle			,
Database Dialect:	Oracle			
Driver Name:	Oracle [ID	: Oracle]		
Database URL:	jdbc:oracl	e:thin:// <host>:<port>/<</port></host>	:database>	
🔵 None				
Credentials				
 Credentials Username Username & pas 	sword			
 Credentials Username Username & pas Username: myr 	sword user			
Credentials Username Username & pas Username: myu Password:	sword user	•••••		
Credentials Username Username & pas Username: myi Password: ••	sword user			

Figure 7. Database Connector configuration dialog

Database Type: Select the type of the database the node will connect to. For example, if the database is a PostgreSQL derivative select Postgres as database type. if you don't know the type select the default type.

Database Dialect: Select the database dialect which defines how the SQL statements are generated.

Driver Name: Select an appropriate driver for your specific database. If there is no matching JDBC driver it first needs to be registered, see Register your own JDBC drivers. Only drivers that have been registered for the selected database type will be available for selection.

Database URL: A driver-specific JDBC URL. Enter the database information in the placeholder, such as the host, port, and database name.

Authentication: Login credentials can either be provided via credential flow variables, or directly in the configuration dialog in the form of username and password. Kerberos

authentication is also provided for databases that support this feature, e.g Hive or Impala. For more information on Kerberos authentication, please refer to the Kerberos User Guide.

1 The selected database type and dialect determine which data types, statements such as insert, update, and aggregation functions are supported.

If you encounter an error while connecting to a third-party database, you can enable the *JDBC logger* option in the Advanced Tab. If this option is enabled all JDBC operations are written into the KNIME log which might help you to identify the problems. In order to tweak how KNIME interacts with your database e.g. quotes identifiers you can change the default settings under the Advanced Tab according to the settings of your database. For example, KNIME uses " as the default identifier quoting, which is not supported by default by some databases (e.g Informix). To solve this, simply change or remove the value of the *identifier delimiter* setting in the Advanced Tab.

Register your own JDBC drivers

For some databases KNIME Analytics Platform does not contain a ready-to-use JDBC driver. In these cases, it is necessary to first register a vendor-specific JDBC driver in KNIME Analytics Platform. Please consult your database vendor to obtain the JDBC driver. A list of some of the most popular JDBC drivers can be found below.

The JDBC driver has to be JDBC 4.1 or JDBC 4.2 compliant.

To set up JDBC drivers on KNIME Server, please refer to the section JDBC drivers on KNIME Server.

To register your vendor-specific JDBC driver, go to File \rightarrow Preferences \rightarrow KNIME \rightarrow Databases.

				_		×
					_	
type filter text	Databases				$\langle \neg \neg \neg \rangle$	• •
> General	Here you can load additiona	l database drivers fr	om lar or 7in	archives Registered (rivers are av	ailahle
> Help	in the corresponding databa	se specific connect	or nodes and t	the generic DB Conne	ector node.	anabic
> Install/Update	Drivers that have [Profile] as	prefix are automati	cally added via	a a KNIME Server cust	omization	
✓ KNIME	profile. These drivers can be	edited but not delet	ed. To delete a	a profile driver go to t	he Customiz	ation
> Big Data	Profiles preferences page.					
Chemistry	List of database driver prefer	ences:			1	
Customization Profiles	Name	DB Type	Version		Edit	
Data Storage						
Databases (legacy)					Add	
lavaScript Views						
KNIME Explorer					Kemo	/e
> KNIME GUI					Up	
Kerberos						
Master Key					Dowr	1
Meta Info Preferences						
Preferred Renderers						
Python						
> Vernalis						
> Workflow Coach						
> Run/Debug				Pastore Defaulte	Appl	
> Team				Restore <u>D</u> eraults	Аррі	/
				Apply and Close	Cancel	

Figure 8. DB Preference page

Clicking *Add* will open a new database driver window where you can provide the JDBC driver path and all necessary information, such as:

- *ID*: The unique ID of the JDBC driver consisting only of alphanumeric characters and underscore.
- Name: The unique name of the JDBC driver.
- Database type: The database type. If you select a specific database type e.g. MySQL the driver will be available for selection in the dedicated connector node e.g. MySQL Connector. However if your database is not on the list, you can choose *default*, which will provide you with all available parameters in the Advanced Tab. Drivers that are registered for the default type are only available in the generic DB Connector node.
- Description: Optional description of the JDBC driver.
- URL template: The JDBC driver connection URL format which is used in the dedicated connector nodes. If you select a database other than *default* in the *Database type*, the URL template will be preset with the default template for the selected database. Please refer to the URL Template syntax information below or the JDBC URL Template section for more information.

- URL Template syntax information: Clicking on the question mark will open an infobox which provides information about the URL template syntax in general. Additionally, if you select a database other than *default* in the *Database type*, one or more possible URL template examples will be provided for the selected database type, which you can copy and paste in the *URL template* field.
- *Classpath*: The path to the JDBC driver. Click *Add file* if the driver is provided as a single .jar file, or *Add directory* if the driver is provided as a folder that contains several .jar files. Some vendors offer a .zip file for download, which needs to be unpacked to a folder first.
- 1

If the JDBC driver requires native libraries e.g DLLs you need to put all of them into a single folder and then register this folder via the *Add directory* button in addition to the JDBC driver .jar file.

- *Driver class*: The JDBC driver class and version will be detected automatically by clicking *Find driver classes*. Please select the appropriate class after clicking the button.
- 1

If your database is available in the *Database type* drop down list, it is better to select it instead of setting it to *default*. Setting the *Database type* to *default* will allow you to only use the generic *DB Connector* node to connect to the database, even if there is a dedicated Connector node for that database.

		_	
D:	*	Database type:	default 🔍 🗸
Name:	*		
Description:			
URL templat	e: ^{&} jdbc: <protocol>://<</protocol>	host>: <port>/<da< td=""><td>atabase></td></da<></port>	atabase>
URL temp	late syntax information	?	
Classpath			
			Add file
			Add directory
			Remove
			Up
			Down
Driver class:	*	\sim Find driver d	lasses
Driver versio	n:		

Figure 9. Register new database driver window

KNIME Server can distribute JDBC drivers automatically to all connected KNIME Analytics Platform clients (see JDBC drivers on KNIME Server).

JDBC URL Template

i

When registering a JDBC driver, you need to specify its JDBC URL template, which will be used by the dedicated Connector node to create the final database URL. For example, jdbc:oracle:thin:@<host>:<port>/<database> is a valid driver URL template for the Oracle thin driver. For most databases you don't have to find the suitable URL template by yourself, because the URL Template syntax information provides at least one URL template example for a database.

The values of the variables in the URL template, e.g <host>, <port>, or <database> can be specified in the configuration dialog of the corresponding Connector node.

Tokens:

- *Mandatory value* (e.g. <database>): The referenced token must have a non-blank value. The name between the brackets must be a valid token name (see below for a list of supported tokens).
- Optional value (e.g. [database]): The referenced token may have a blank value. The name between the brackets must be a valid token name (see below for a list of supported tokens).
- Conditions (e.g. [location=in-memory?mem:<database>]): This is applicable for filebased databases, such as H2, or SQLite. The first ? character separates the condition from the content that will only be included in the URL if the condition is true. The only explicit operator available currently is =, to test the exact value of a variable. The left operand must be a valid variable name, and the right operand the value the variable is required to have for the content to be included. The content may include mandatory and/or optional tokens (<database>/[database]), but no conditional parts. It is also possible to test if a variable is present. In order to do so, specifying the variable name e.g. database as the condition. E.g.

jdbc:mydb://<host>:<port>[database?/databaseName=<database>] will result in jdbc:mydb://localhost:10000/databaseName=db1 if the database name is specified in the node dialog otherwise it would be jdbc:mydb://localhost:10000.

For server-based databases, the following tokens are expected:

- *host*: The value of the Hostname field on the *Connection Settings* tab of a Connector node.
- *port*: The value of the Port field on the *Connection Settings* tab of a Connector node.
- *database*: The value of the Database name field on the *Connection Settings* tab of a Connector node.

For file-based databases, the following tokens are expected:

- *location*: The Location choice on the *Connection Settings* tab of a Connector node. The file value corresponds to the radio button next to *Path* being selected, and in-memory to the radio button next to *In-memory*. This variable can only be used in conditions.
- *file*: The value of the *Path* field on the *Connection Settings* tab of a Connector node. This variable is only valid if the value of the location is file.
- *database*: The value of the *In-memory* field on the *Connection Settings* tab of a Connector node. This variable is only valid if the value of the location is in-memory.

Field validation in the configuration dialog of a Connector node depends on

whether the (included) tokens referencing them are mandatory or optional (see above).

List of common JDBC drivers

Below is a selected list of common database drivers you can add among others to KNIME Analytics Platform:

- Apache Derby
- Exasol

1

- Google BigQuery
- IBM DB2 / Informix
- Oracle
- SAP HANA
- SnowFlake
- 1

The list above only shows some example of database drivers that you can add. If your driver is not in the list above, it is still possible to add it to KNIME Analytics Platform.

Advanced Database Options

JDBC Parameters

The JDBC parameters allow you to define custom JDBC driver connection parameter. The value of a parameter can be a constant, variable, credential user, credential password or KNIME URL. For more information about the supported connection parameter please refer to your database vendor.

The figure below shows an example of SSL JDBC parameters with different variable types. You can set a boolean value to enable or disable *SSL*, you can also use a KNIME relative URL to point to the *SSLTrustStore* location, or use a credential input for the *trustStorePassword* parameter.

Output Type Mapping	Flow Variables		Job Manager Selectio	n	Mer	nory Policy	
Connection Settings	JDBC Parameter	rs	Advanced	Inp	out Type I	Mapping	
Name	1	Гуре	Value				
sl			true				
slTrustStore		//	knime://knime.workflov	v/SSLTr	ustStore		
trustStorePassword		•••	trustStoreCredentialVa	riable			
		/ ~					
	La constante da	v •					
		.					
		://					
	٨dd	De	move				
	Auu	1.00	move				

Figure 10. JDBC Parameters Tab

Advanced Tab

The settings in the *Advanced* tab allow you to define KNIME framework properties such as connection handling, advanced SQL dialect settings or query logging options. This is the place where you can tweak how KNIME interacts with the database e.g. how the queries should be created that are send to the database. In the *Metadata* section you can also disable the metadata fetching during configuration of a node or alter the timeout when doing so which might be necessary if you are connected to a database that needs more time to compute the metadata of a created query or you are connected to it via a slow network.

Output Type Mapping	Flow Variables		Job Manager Selec	tion	Memory Policy
Connection Settings	JDBC Parameter	s	Advanced	Inp	out Type Mapping
JDBC statement cancellation —					
Name		Value			
Enable				~	
Node cancellation polling interva	al				1000
Metadata					
Name		Value			
Retrieve in configure				~	
Retrieve in configure timeout					3
Transaction					
Name		Value			
Enable				\checkmark	
Name		Value			
CDEATE "tomporpru" TARI E our	+				
CREATE TABLE "if not exists" su	ntax /ntax	GLODA			
Delimit only identifier with space	S				
Fetch size	-				10000
Identifier delimiter (closing)		•			
Identifier delimiter (opening)		•			
Table reference keyword		AS			

Figure 11. Advanced Tab

The full available options are described as follow:

- Validation query: The query to be executed for validating that a connection is ready for use. If no query is specified KNIME calls the Connection.isValid() method to validate the connection. Only errors are checked, no result is required.
- CASE expressions: Whether CASE expressions are allowed in generated statements.
- CREATE TABLE CONSTRAINT name: Whether names can be defined for CONSTRAINT definitions in CREATE TABLE statements.
- DROP TABLE statement: Whether DROP TABLE statements are part of the language.
- Derived table reference: Whether table references can be derived tables.
- Insert into table from query: Whether insertion into a table via a select statement is supported, e.g. INSERT INTO T1 (C1) (SELECT C1 FROM T2).
- JDBC logger: Enables or disables logger for JDBC operations.

- *JDBC statement cancellation*: Enables or disables JDBC statement cancellation attempts when node execution is canceled.
- *Node cancellation polling interval*: The amount of milliseconds to wait between two checking of whether the node execution has been canceled. Valid range: [100, 5000].
- *Retrieve in configure*: Enables or disables retrieving metadata in configure method for database nodes.
- *Retrieve in configure timeout*: Time interval in seconds to wait before canceling a metadata retrieval in configure method. Valid range: [1,).
- *Transaction*: Enables or disables database transactions e.g. commit/rollback. If the database you want to connect to e.g. Google Big Query or Dremio does not support transaction please disable this option.
- CREATE "temporary" TABLE syntax: The keyword or keywords for creating temporary tables.
- *CREATE TABLE "if not exists" syntax*: The syntax for the table creation statement condition "if not exists". If empty, no such statement will automatically be created, though the same behavior may still be non-atomically achieved by nodes.
- *Fetch size*: Hint for the JDBC driver about the number of rows that should be fetched from the database when more rows are needed. Valid range: [0,).
- *Restore database connection*: Enables or disables the restoration of the database connection when an executed connector node is loaded.
- *Delimit only identifier with spaces*: If selected, only identifiers, e.g. columns or table names, with spaces are delimited.
- *Identifier delimiter (closing)*: Closing delimiter for identifier such as column and table name.
- *Identifier delimiter (opening)*: Opening delimiter for identifier such as column and table name.
- *Replace non-word characters in identifiers*: Whether to replace non-word characters in identifiers, e.g. table or column names. Non-word characters include all characters other than alphanumeric characters (a-z, A-Z, 0-9) and underscore (_).
- *Identifier non-word character replacement*: The replacement for non-word characters in identifiers when their replacement is enabled. An empty value results in the removal of non-word characters.
- Table reference keyword: The keyword before correlation names in table references.
- Append JDBC parameter to URL: Enables or disables appending of parameter to the JDBC URL instead of passing them as properties.

- Append user name and password to URL: Enables or disables appending of the user name and password to the JDBC URL instead of passing them as properties.
- JDBC URL initial parameter separator: The character that indicates the start of the parameters in the JDBC URL.
- JDBC URL parameter separator: The character that separates two JDBC parameter in the JDBC URL.
- JDBC URL last parameter suffix: The character to be appended after the last parameter in the JDBC URL.
- Minus operation: Whether MINUS set operations are supported or not.

Dedicated DB connectors (e.g. Microsoft SQL Server Connector) usually show only a subset of the above mentioned options since most options are predefined, such as whether the database supports CASE statements, etc.

Examples

In this section we will provide examples on how to connect to some widely-known databases.

Connecting to Oracle

The first step is to get the Oracle JDBC driver. Then go to File \rightarrow Preferences \rightarrow KNIME \rightarrow Databases, and click Add.

ID:	Oracle	Database type	oracle ~
Name:	Oracle		
Description:	My Oracle driver		
URL template:	jdbc:oracle:thin:@ <host>:<port>/</port></host>	<database></database>	
URL templa	te syntax information 🥐		
Classpath			
C:\Users\kni	me\JDBC\oracle\ojdbc8.jar		Add file
			Add directory
			Remove
			Up
			Down
Driver class:	oracle.jdbc.OracleDriver	 Find driver 	classes
	10.0.0		

Figure 12. Register new Oracle driver

In the new database driver window, provide the following information:

- *ID*: Oracle, but you can enter your own driver ID as long as it only contains alphanumeric characters and underscores.
- Name: Oracle, but you can enter your own driver name.
- Database type: Oracle is available in the drop down list, so the database type is set to *oracle*.
- Description: My Oracle driver, for example.
- URL template: By selecting oracle in the Database type, the URL template is
 automatically preset to the default JDBC URL template for Oracle (Service Name), i.e
 jdbc:oracle:thin:@<host>:<port>/<database>. For more possible templates, simply
 click on the URL Template syntax information directly below. Please refer to the JDBC
 URL Template section for more information on the supported tokens e.g. host, port and
 database.

- *Classpath*: Click *Add file* to add the Oracle JDBC driver file. The path to the driver file will then appear in the Classpath area.
- *Driver class*: clicking *Find driver classes* will automatically detect all available JDBC driver classes and versions, which in this case is *oracle.jdbc.OracleDriver* in version 12.2.0.

After filling all the information, click *Ok*, and the newly added driver will appear in the database driver preferences table. Click *Apply and Close* to apply the changes and you can start connecting to your Oracle database.

A Preferences			_	
type filter text	Databases			(>
> General > Help > Install/Update > Java V KNIME > Big Data	Here you can load addition in the corresponding datab Drivers that have [Profile] a profile.These drivers can be Profiles preferences page. List of database driver prefe	al database drivers from Jar ase specific connector node s prefix are automatically ac edited but not deleted. To e erences:	or Zip archives. Registered dr es and the generic DB Connec dded via a KNIME Server custo delete a profile driver go to th	ivers are available tor node. omization e Customization
Customization Profi	Name	DB Type	Version	Edit
Data storage Databases	Oracle [ID: Oracle]	oracle	12.2.0	
Databases (legacy)				Add
H2O				Remove
JavaScript Views				
KNIME Explorer				Up
KINIME GUI				Down
Master Key				
Meta Info Preference				
Network 🗸			Pastava Dafaulta	Annh
< >			Restore <u>D</u> efaults	Арріу
			Apply and Close	Cancel

Figure 13. Database Preference page

Oracle has a dedicated Connector node called *Oracle Connector*, please refer to Connecting to predefined databases on how to connect using dedicated Connector nodes.

Connecting to Databricks

To connect to Databricks, you need to install the KNIME Databricks Integration.

The next step is to download the Databricks Simba JDBC driver from the official website to your machine. Then go to File \rightarrow Preferences \rightarrow KNIME \rightarrow Databases, and click Add.

i

KNIME provides Apache Hive JDBC driver for Databricks which you can use as a fallback driver. But it is strongly recommended to use the official JDBC driver provided in the link above.

Register new database driver Driver ID: Databricks Name: Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default • URL template syntax information ? Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Up Down</port></host>	Register new database driver Driver ID: Databricks Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default VIRL template syntax information ? C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add directory Remove Up</port></host>				
Driver ID: Databricks Database type: databricks Name: Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default VRL template syntax information ? Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down</port></host>	Driver ID: Databricks Database type: databricks Name: Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default • URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add directory Remove Up Down</port></host>	Register new o	database driver	-	- 🗆
ID: Databricks Database type: databricks Name: Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down</port></host>	ID: Databricks Database type: databricks Name: Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default URL template syntax information ? Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add directory Remove Up Down</port></host>	Driver			
Name: Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down</port></host>	Name: Databricks Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add directory Remove Up Down</port></host>	ID:	Databricks	Database type:	databricks
Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default • URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down</port></host>	Description: My Databricks driver URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default • URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add directory Remove Up Down</port></host>	Name:	Databricks		
URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down</port></host>	URL template: jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port>/default URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add directory Remove Up Down</port></host>	Description:	My Databricks driver		
URL template syntax information ⑦ Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down	URL template syntax information Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down	URL template:	jdbc:spark:// <host>:<port></port></host>	/default	
Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down	Classpath C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add directory Remove Up Down	URL templat	e syntax information 🥐		
C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down	C:\Users\knime\JDBC\databricks\SparkJDBC4.jar Add file Add director Remove Up Down	Classpath			
Add director Remove Up Down	Add director Remove Up Down	C:\Users\knir	ne\JDBC\databricks\SparkJD	BC4.jar	Add file
Remove Up Down	Remove Up Down				Add director
Up Down	Up Down				Remove
Down	Down				Up
					Down
		Driver class:	com.simba.spark.jdbc4.E <	Find driver c	lasses
Driver class: com.simba.spark.jdbc4.C V Find driver classes	Driver class: com.simba.spark.jdbc4.C V Find driver classes	Driver version:	2.6.0		
Driver class: com.simba.spark.jdbc4.C V Find driver classes Driver version: 2.6.0	Driver class: com.simba.spark.jdbc4.C V Find driver classes Driver version: 2.6.0				
Driver class: com.simba.spark.jdbc4.C V Find driver classes Driver version: 2.6.0	Driver class: com.simba.spark.jdbc4.C V Find driver classes Driver version: 2.6.0			ОК	Cance

Figure 14. Register new Databricks driver

In the new database driver window, provide the following information:

- *ID*: Databricks, but you can enter your own driver ID as long as it only contains alphanumeric characters and underscores.
- Name: Databricks, but you can enter your own driver name.
- *Database type*: Databricks is available in the drop down list, so the database type is set to *databricks*.

© 2020 KNIME AG. All rights reserved.

- Description: My Databricks driver, for example.
- URL template: By selecting databricks in the Database type, the URL template is automatically preset to the default JDBC URL template for Databricks, i.e jdbc:spark://<host>:<port>/default. For more possible templates, simply click on the URL Template syntax information directly below. Please refer to the JDBC URL Template section for more information on the supported tokens e.g. host, port and database.
- *Classpath*: Click *Add file* to add the Databricks JDBC driver file. The path to the driver file will then appear in the Classpath area.
- *Driver class*: clicking *Find driver classes* will automatically detect all available JDBC driver classes and versions, which in this case is *com.simba.spark.jdbc4.Driver* in version 2.6.0.

After filling all the information, click *Ok*, and the newly added driver will appear in the database driver preferences table. Click *Apply and Close* to apply the changes.

A Preferences				_		×
	Databases				(-) - (-)	⇒ • •
 > General > Help > Install/Update > KNIME > Big Data Customization Profiles 	Here you can load additional in the corresponding databas Drivers that have [Profile] as profile.These drivers can be e Profiles preferences page. List of database driver preferences	database drivers se specific connec prefix are automa dited but not dele ences:	from Jar or Z tor nodes ar tically addec eted. To dele	Zip archives. Registered d nd the generic DB Conne d via a KNIME Server cust te a profile driver go to th	rivers are ctor node omization ne Custor	available a. n nization
Data Storage	Name	DB Type	Version		E	Edit
Databases Databases (legacy) JavaScript Views KNIME Explorer KNIME GUI Kerberos Master Key Meta Info Preferences Preferred Renderers	Databricks [ID: Databricks]	databricks	2.6.0		Ren	Add move Up own
Python > Workflow Coach > Run/Debug > Team				Restore Defaults	A	pply
				Apply and Close	Can	cel

Figure 15. Database Preference page

To connect to Databricks, you need to first create a Databricks environment that is connected to an existing Databricks cluster. To do this, use the *Create Databricks Environment* node. In the configuration window, you need to provide:

- Databricks URL: Full URL of the Databricks deployment, which is either https://<account>.cloud.databricks.com on AWS or https://<region>.azuredatabricks.net on Azure.
- Cluster ID: Unique identifier of a cluster in the Databricks workspace.
- Workspace ID: Workspace ID for Databricks on Azure, leave blank on AWS.

In the *DB Port* \rightarrow *Driver* tab, you can select the driver name, which in this case is the Databricks Simba JDBC driver we have registered previously.

For the authentication, Databricks strongly recommends using tokens. Please refer to the authentication in Databricks AWS or Azure documentation for more information about personal access token.

In the example figure below, we want to try to connect to Databricks on AWS.

🛕 Dialog - 0:2 - Create Databricks Environment	_		\times
File			
General Advanced DB Port Flow Variables Memory Policy			
Databricks LIRL: https://123456.cloud.databricks.com	Spark ver	sion: 2	2.4 ~
Cluster ID: 1234			
Workspace ID:			
Authentication			
○ Credentials			
O Username & password			
Token			
Token:			
OK Annha Canad			
OK Apply Cance			

Figure 16. Configuration Window of Create Databricks Environment Node

Connecting to Google BigQuery

To connect to BigQuery, you need to install the KNIME BigQuery Extension.

Due to license restrictions the BigQuery JDBC driver is not part of KNIME Analytics Platform and needs to be downloaded and registered separately. To download the BigQuery JDBC driver please visit the official website. Then go to *File* \rightarrow *Preferences* \rightarrow *KNIME* \rightarrow *Databases*, and click *Add*.

🔥 Register new o	database driver	-		×
Driver				
ID:	BigQuery	Database type:	bigquery	~
Name:	BigQuery			
Description:	My BigQuery driver			
URL template:	jdbc:bigquery:// <host>:<port>;ProjectId=<database></database></port></host>			
URL templat	e syntax information 🥐			
Classpath				
C:\Users\knir	ne\JDBC\bigquery\SimbaJDBCDriverforGoogleBigQuery42	2_1.2.2.1004	Add file Add directory Remove Up Down	
Driver class: Driver version:	com.simba.googlebigquery.jdbc42.Driver v	Find driver c	lasses	
		ОК	Cancel	

Figure 17. Register new BigQuery driver

In the new database driver window, provide the following information:

- *ID*: BigQuery, but you can enter your own driver ID as long as it only contains alphanumeric characters and underscores.
- Name: BigQuery, but you can enter your own driver name.

- Database type: BigQuery is available in the drop down list, so the database type is set to bigquery.
- Description: My Google BigQuery driver, for example.
- URL template: By selecting bigquery in the Database type, the URL template is automatically preset to the default JDBC URL template for BigQuery, i.e jdbc:bigquery://<host>:<port>;ProjectId=<database>. Please refer to the URL Template syntax information directly below or the JDBC URL Template section for more information on the supported tokens e.g. host, port and database.
- *Classpath*: Click *Add file* to add the BigQuery JDBC driver file. The path to the driver file will then appear in the Classpath area.
- *Driver class*: clicking *Find driver classes* will automatically detect all available JDBC driver classes and versions, which in this case is *com.simba.googlebigquery.jdbc42.Driver* in version 1.2.0.

After filling all the information, click *Ok*, and the newly added driver will appear in the database driver preferences table. Click *Apply and Close* to apply the changes.

A Preferences				_	
	Databases				() • () • •
 > General > Help > Install/Update > KNIME > Big Data Customization Profiles 	Here you can load additional in the corresponding databas Drivers that have [Profile] as profile.These drivers can be e Profiles preferences page. List of database driver preferences	database drivers fr se specific connecto prefix are automati dited but not deleto ences:	om Jar or or nodes a cally adde ed. To dele	Zip archives. Registered d ind the generic DB Conne d via a KNIME Server cust ete a profile driver go to th	rivers are available ctor node. omization le Customization
Data Storage Databases	Name	DB Type	Version		Edit
Databases (legacy) JavaScript Views KNIME Explorer KNIME GUI Kerberos Master Key Meta Info Preferences Preferred Renderers Python	BigQuery [ID: BigQuery]	bigquery	1.2.0		Add Remove Up Down
> Workflow Coach > Run/Debug					
> Team				Restore Defaults	Apply
				Apply and Close	Cancel

Figure 18. Database Preference page

To connect to the BigQuery server, we suggest to use the *Google Authentication (API Key)* node to authenticate and create a connection to the Google APIs, and then the *Google*

BigQuery Connector node to connect to BigQuery. As an alternative you can also specify the driver specific authentication information via the JDBC Parameters tab.



Figure 19. Connecting to BigQuery

In the configuration window of the Google Authentication (API Key) node, you need to provide:

- Service account email: Email address of the service account. Please see the BigQuery documentation for more information on how to create a service account.
- *P12 key file location*: Path to the private P12 key file. While creating a service account email, you can create a service account key in the form of either JSON or P12 key/credentials. Note that only P12 keys are supported here.
- Scopes: The scopes that will be granted for this connection. Please see the Google documentation on the list of available BigQuery API scopes. For example, selecting Google BigQuery Connection allows you to view and manage your data in Google BigQuery.
- 1 Only P12 keys are supported in the *Google Authentication (API Key)* node!

Dialog - 0:5 - Google Authentication (API Key) ile	_		×
Settings Flow Variables Memory Policy			
Service account email:			
service-acc@project-123.iam.gserviceaccount.com			
P12 key file location:			
C:\Users\knime\google\project-9123.p12 ~	Brows	e	V
scopes:			
https://www.googleapis.com/auth/bigquer	:У		
Google BigQuery Connection	``	A	dd
OK Apply Cancel	(0	

Figure 20. Configuration Window of Google Authentication (API Key) Node

After the connection is successfully established, it can be used as the input *Google Service Connection* for the *Google BigQuery Connector* node. The configuration window contains as follows:

- *Driver Name*: The name of the BigQuery driver we have given earlier when we registered the driver. In our example it is *BigQuery*.
- Hostname: The hostname (or IP address) of a Google BigQuery server.
- Port: The port on which the Google BigQuery server is listening. The default port is 443.
- Database Name: The name (project ID) of the database you want to connect to.

Connection	na Output 1 Settings	Type Mapping IDBC Pa	Flow Variables	M	emory P Advance	olicy d
Configuration	-					-
Database Dialect:	Google BigQuer	у				1
Driver Name:	BigQuery [ID: E	BigQuery]				`
Location						
Hostname				Po	ort	
https://www.google	eapis.com/bigque	ry/v2		~	44	3
Database name						
project-123				\sim		

Figure 21. Configuration Window of Google BigQuery Connector Node

Connecting to Microsoft SQL Server

The dedicated *Microsoft SQL Server Connector* node is bundled by default with the jTDS for Microsoft SQL Server driver. If you want to use the official driver for Microsoft SQL Server instead, KNIME provides an additional plug-in to install the driver. Please refer to Third-party Database Driver Plug-in for more information about the plug-in and how to install it.

It is also possible to use your own Microsoft SQL Server driver. To register your own driver please refer to the Register your own JDBC drivers section. However, the Microsoft SQL Server driver might require several native libraries, such as DLLs. In that case you need to copy all the required native libraries into a single folder and then register this folder via the *Add directory* button in addition to the JDBC .jar file in the database driver window. This step is not required if you use the provided jTDS for Microsoft SQL Server driver or the official driver for Microsoft SQL Server installed through the plug-in.

1

All necessary files such as the sqljdbc_auth.dll or the ntlmauth.dll are part of the provided drivers.

After installing the JDBC driver, you can use the *Microsoft SQL Server Connector* node to start connecting to Microsoft SQL Server. Please refer to Connecting to predefined databases for more information on how to connect using dedicated Connector nodes.

Microsoft SQL Server supports the so-called Windows native authentication mode. If you want to use this mode, simply select *None/native authentication* in the *Authentication* setting in the configuration window. The following sections explain how to use this mode depending on which driver you use.

Windows native authentication using the official driver for Microsoft SQL Server

To use this mode with the provided official driver for Microsoft SQL Server, KNIME Analytics Platform needs to run on a Windows machine and you need to be logged in a Windows domain that is accepted by the Microsoft SQL Server you are connecting to. In addition, you need to specify the following entry in the *JDBC Parameters* tab: *integratedSecurity* with value *true*. For more details see the Microsoft documentation.

Windows native authentication using the jTDS driver for Microsoft SQL Server

If you are using the provided jTDS for Microsoft SQL Server driver and KNIME Analytics Platform runs on a Windows machine that is logged into a Windows domain that is accepted by the Microsoft SQL Server you are connecting to, then you don't need to specify any JDBC parameters.

If KNIME Analytics Platform runs on a non-Windows machine, you need to provide the user name and password of the Windows domain user you want to use for authentication. To do so please select either the *Credentials* option or the *Username & password* option. In addition, you need to specify the following entry in the *JDBC Parameters* tab: *domain* with <<*Windows domain name>>* as value. For more details see the description of the domain property in the jTDS FAQ or see the README.sso.

Connecting to Apache Hive™

To connect to Hive, you need to install the KNIME Big Data Connectors Extension.

The dedicated *Hive Connector* node is bundled by default with the open-source Apache Hive JDBC driver. Proprietary drivers are also supported, but need to be registered first, such as the Hive JDBC connector provided by Cloudera.

In this example we want to connect to Hive using the proprietary Cloudera Hive JDBC driver. The first step is to download the latest Hive JDBC driver for Cloudera Enterprise. Then go to File \rightarrow Preferences \rightarrow KNIME \rightarrow Databases, and click Add.

	cloudera_hive D	atabase type:	hive .
Name:	Cloudera Hive		
escription:	My Hive driver		
JRL template:	idbc:hive2:// <host>:<port>/[database]</port></host>		
• URL templat	e syntax information ?		
Classpath			
C:\Users\knir	ne\JDBC\hive\HiveJDBC41.jar		Add file
			Add directory
			Remove
			Un
			- OP
			Down
	com.cloudera.hive.idbc41.HS2Driver 💎	Find driver c	lasses

Figure 22. Register new Apache Hive driver

In the new database driver window, provide the following information:

- *ID*: cloudera_hive, but you can enter your own driver ID as long as it only contains alphanumeric characters and underscores.
- Name: Cloudera Hive, but you can enter your own driver name.
- Database type: Hive is available in the drop down list, so the database type is set to *hive*.
- Description: My Hive driver, for example.

- URL template: Please make sure that this field contains jdbc:hive2://<host>:<port>/[database]. Please refer to the JDBC URL Template section for more information on the supported tokens e.g. host, port and database.
- *Classpath*: Click *Add file* to add the .jar file that contains the Hive JDBC driver. The path to the driver file will then appear in the Classpath area.
- *Driver class*: clicking *Find driver classes* will automatically detect all available JDBC driver classes and versions. Please make sure to select *com.cloudera.hive.jdbc41.HS2Driver*.

Finally, click *Ok* and the newly added driver will appear in the database driver preferences table. Click *Apply and Close* to apply the changes and you can start connecting to your Hive database.

A Preferences				_		×
type filter text	Databases				<pre><pre></pre></pre>	> • •
 General Help Install/Update KNIME Big Data Customization Profiles 	Here you can load additional databas in the corresponding database specifi Drivers that have [Profile] as prefix are profile.These drivers can be edited bu Profiles preferences page. List of database driver preferences:	e drivers from Jar or c connector nodes automatically add t not deleted. To del	r Zip archi and the g ed via a K lete a prof	ives. Registered di eneric DB Connec NIME Server custo file driver go to th	ivers are a tor node. omization e Custom	ization
Data Storage Databases Databases (legacy) JavaScript Views KNIME Explorer KNIME GUI Kerberos Master Key Meta Info Preferences	Name Cloudera Hive [ID: cloudera_hive]	DB Type hive	Version 2.6.0		E Ren U	dit dd nove Jp
Preferred Renderers Python > Workflow Coach > Run/Debug > Team				Restore Defaults	Ap	oply
			A	pply and Close	Can	cel

Figure 23. Database Preference page

Hive has a dedicated Connector node called *Hive Connector*, please refer to Connecting to predefined databases on how to connect using dedicated Connector nodes.

Connecting to Apache Impala™

To connect to Apache Impala, you need to install the KNIME Big Data Connectors Extension.

The dedicated *Impala Connector* node is bundled by default with the open-source Apache Hive JDBC driver, which is compatible with Impala. Proprietary drivers are also supported, but need to be registered first, such as the Impala JDBC connector provided by Cloudera.

In this example we want to connect to Impala using the proprietary Cloudera Impala JDBC driver. The first step is to download the latest Impala JDBC driver for Cloudera Enterprise. Then go to *File* \rightarrow *Preferences* \rightarrow *KNIME* \rightarrow *Databases*, and click *Add*.

🔥 Register new o	database driver			×
Driver				
ID:	cloudera_impala	Database type:	impala	\sim
Name:	Cloudera Impala			
Description:	My Impala driver			
URL template:	jdbc:impala:// <host>:<port>/[database]</port></host>			
URL template	e syntax information 🥐			
Classpath				
C:\Users\knin	ne\JDBC\impala\ImpalaJDBC41.jar		Add file	
			Add directory	,
			Remove	
			lla	
			op	
			Down	
Driver class:	com cloudera impala idho Driver	Eind driver e	laccec	
Driver version	2.6.0	This arver c	.105505	
Driver version.	LIVIU			
		ОК	Cance	

Figure 24. Register new Apache Impala driver

In the new database driver window, provide the following information:

- *ID*: cloudera_impala, but you can enter your own driver ID as long as it only contains alphanumeric characters and underscores.
- Name: Cloudera Impala, but you can enter your own driver name.

- Database type: Impala is available in the drop down list, so the database type is set to *impala*.
- Description: My Impala driver, for example.
- URL template: By selecting impala in the Database type, the URL template is automatically preset to the default JDBC URL template for Impala, i.e jdbc:impala://<host>:<port>/[database]. For more possible templates, simply click on the URL Template syntax information directly below. Please refer to the JDBC URL Template section for more information on the supported tokens e.g. host, port and database.
- *Classpath*: Click *Add file* to add the .jar file that contains the Impala JDBC driver file. The path to the driver file will then appear in the Classpath area.
- *Driver class*: clicking *Find driver classes* will automatically detect all available JDBC driver classes and versions, which in this case is *com.cloudera.impala.jdbc.Driver*.

Finally, click *Ok* and the newly added driver will appear in the database driver preferences table. Click *Apply and Close* to apply the changes and you can start connecting to your Impala database.

A Preferences						\times
type filter text	Databases				⇔ - ⇒	• •
 > General > Help > Install/Update > KIIME > Big Data Customization Profiles Data Storage Databases Databases (legacy) JavaScript Views KNIME Explorer > KNIME GUI Kerberos Master Key Meta Info Preferences Preferred Renderers Python > Workflow Coach > Run/Debug > Team 	Here you can load additional database drivers from Jar or Zip archives. Registered drivers are available in the corresponding database specific connector nodes and the generic DB Connector node. Drivers that have [Profile] as prefix are automatically added via a KNIME Server customization profile. These drivers can be edited but not deleted. To delete a profile driver go to the Customization Profiles preferences page. List of database driver preferences:					
	Name	DB Type	Version		Ed	it
	Cloudera Impala [ID: cloudera_impala]	impala	2.6.0		Ad Rem Ur Dov	d ove ovn
			Resto	ore Defaults	App	ly
			Apply a	nd Close	Cance	2

Figure 25. Database Preference page

Impala has a dedicated Connector node called Impala Connector, please refer to Connecting
to predefined databases on how to connect using dedicated Connector nodes.

Reading from a database



Figure 26. Reading from a database

The figure above is an example on how to read from a database. In this example we want to read the flights dataset stored in an H2 database into a KNIME data table.

First you need a connector node to establish a connection to the database, in the example above it is an H2 database. There are several dedicated connector nodes depending on which database we want to connect to. For further details on how to connect to a database refer to the Connecting to a database section.



Figure 27. DB Table Selector configuration dialog

After the connection is established, the next step is to use the *DB Table Selector* node that allows selecting a table or a view interactively based on the input database connection.

The figure on the left side shows the configuration dialog of the *DB Table Selector* node. At the top part you can enter the schema and the table/view name that you want to select, in this example we want to select the "flights" table.

Pressing the *Select a table* button will open a Database Metadata Browser window that lists available tables/views in the database.

In addition, ticking the Custom Query checkbox will allow you to write your own custom SQL

query to narrow down the result. It accepts any SELECT statement, and the placeholder #table# can be used to refer to the table selected via the *Select a table* button.

The *Input Type Mapping* tab allows you to define mapping rules from database types to KNIME types. For more information on this, please refer to the section Type Mapping.

The output of this node is a DB Data connection that contains the database information and the SQL query automatically build by the framework that selects the entered table or the user entered custom query. To read the selected table or view into KNIME Analytics Platform, you can use the *DB Reader* node. Executing this node will execute the input SQL query in the database and the output will be the result stored in a KNIME data table which will be stored on the machine where KNIME Analytics Platform is running.



Database Metadata Browser

Figure 28. Database Metadata Browser

The Database Metadata Browser shows the database schema, including all tables / views and their corresponding columns and column data types. At first opening it fetches the metadata from the database and caches it for subsequent use. By clicking on an element (schema/table/view) it shows the contained elements. To select a table or view select the name and click OK or double click the element.

The search box at the top of the window allows you to search for any table or view inside the database. At the bottom there is a refresh button to re-fetch the schema list with a time reference on how long ago the schema was last refreshed.

i

If you have just created a table and you cannot find it in the schema list, it might be that the metadata browser cache is not up to date, so please try to refresh the list by clicking the refresh button at the lower right corner.

Query Generation

Query DB Apply-Binner DB Auto-Binner ¹ DB Column Filter 👫 DB Column Rename DB Column Rename (Regex) DB GroupBy 1 DB Joiner DB Numeric-Binner Hartitioning DB Pivot 2 DB Query 📑 DB Row Filter 🚟 DB Sampling DB Sorter DB Table Selector Figure 29. DB Query nodes

Once you have successfully connected to your database, there is a set of nodes that provide in-database data manipulation, such as aggregating, filtering, joining etc.

The database nodes come with a visual user interface and automatically build a SQL query in the background according to the user settings in the configuration window, so no coding is required to interact with the database.

The output of each node is a SQL query that corresponds to the operation(s) that are performed within the node. The generated SQL query can be viewed via the DB Data outport view .

Visual Query Generation



Figure 30. Example of a workflow that performs in-database data manipulation

The figure above shows an example of in-database data manipulation. In this example, we read the flights dataset from a H2 database. First we filter the rows so that we take only the flights that fulfil certain conditions. Then we calculate the average air time to each unique destination airport. Finally we join the average values together with the original values and then read the result into KNIME Analytics Platform.

The first step is to connect to a database and select the appropriate table we want to work with.

DB Row Filter

▲ Dialog - 2:62 - DB Row Filter (Filter rows)			_		×
Conditions Flow Variables Memory Policy					
Query View DepDelay BETWEEN [5, 45] Month = 6 Origin = ATL Origin = ORD	Edit condition DepDelay 5	V BETWEEN V	Delete	~	2
Add Condition Add Group Remove Group Delete	OK	Apply Cano	:el		

Figure 31. DB Row Filter configuration dialog

After selecting the table, you can start working with the data. First we use the *DB Row Filter* node to filter rows according to certain conditions. The figure above shows the configuration dialog of the *DB Row Filter*. On the left side there is a Preview area that lists all conditions of the filter to apply to the input data. Filters can be combined and grouped via logical operators such as AND or OR. Only rows that fulfil the specified filter conditions will be kept in the output data table. At the bottom there are options to:

- · Add Condition: add more condition to the list
- Group: Create a new logical operator (AND or OR)
- Ungroup: Delete the currently selected logical operator
- · Delete: Delete the selected condition from the list

To create a new condition click on the *Add_Condition* button. To edit a condition select in the condition list which will show the selected condition in the condition editor on the right. The editor consists of at least two dropdown lists. The most left one contains the columns from the input data table, and the one next to it contains the operators that are compatible with the selected column type, such as =, !=, <, >. Depending on the selected operation a third and

maybe fourth input field will be displayed to enter or select the filter values. The button next to the values fields fetches all possible values for the selected column which will then be available for selection in the value field.

Clicking on a logical operator in the Preview list would allow you to switch between AND or OR, and to delete this operator by clicking *Ungroup*.

As in our example, we want to return all rows that fulfil the following conditions:

- Originate from the Chicago O'Hare airport (ORD) OR Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta Airport (ATL)
- AND occur during the month of June 2017
- · AND have a mild arrival delay between 5 and 45 minutes

DB GroupBy

▲ Dialog - 0:12 - DB GroupBy File	ý				_		×			
Settings Description Flow Va	ariables Job Manager S	election Memory	Policy							
Groups Manual Aggregation Aggregation settings Available columns	Pattern Based Aggrega Select	ation Type Based	Aggregation	is use right mouse click for c	context menu					
I DayOfWeek ▲ I DepTime ↓ I CRSDepTime ↓ I CRSArrTime ↓ I CRSArrTime ↓ I CRSArrTime ↓ I CRSElapsedTime ↓ I ArtualElapsedTime ↓ I ArtualeIapsedTime ↓ I ArtualeIapsedTime ↓ I DepDelay ↓ I DepDelay ↓ I Distance ↓ I TaxIIn ↓	add >> add all >> << remove	Column I ActualElapsed	Time	Aggregation (dick to ch	hange)	Parameter Edit				
Advanced settings Column naming: Aggregation method (column name) V Add COUNT(*) column name: GROUP_COUNT										
			ОК	Apply Ca	ncel	0				

Figure 32. DB GroupBy: Manual Aggregation

The next step is to calculate the average air time to each unique destination airport using the *DB GroupBy* node. To retrieve the number of rows per group tick the *Add Count(*)* checkbox in

the *Advanced Settings*. The name of the group count column can be changed via the result column name field.

A Dialog - 0:12 - DB GroupBy File	_		×
Settings Description Flow Variables Job Manager Selection Memory Policy			
Groups Manual Aggregation Pattern Based Aggregation Type Based Aggregation Group settings Available column(s) Group column(s) Image: Available column(s) Image: Filter Source Image: Year Image: Year Image: Year Image: Year Image: Month Image: Year Image: Year Image: Year Image: Year Image: Month Image: Year Image: Year Image: Year Image: Year Image: Year Image: Month Image: Year Image: Y			
OK Apply Cancel	0)	

Figure 33. DB GroupBy: Group Settings

To calculate the average air time for each destination airport, we need to group by the *Dest* column in the *Groups* tab, and in *Manual Aggregation* tab we select the *ActualElapsedTime* column (air time) and *AVG* as the aggregation method.

DB Joiner

Dialog - 0:13 - DB Joiner				-	-		2
iner Settings Column Selection	Flow Variables Job Mana	aer Selection Memory	Policy				
oin Mode		ger beleettorr intentory	i oney				
	Join r	node Inner Join	\sim				
oining Columns							
Match all of the following	Match any of the followir	ng					
Top Input ('lef	ť table)	Bot	tom Input ('right' table)				_
S Dest	~	S Dest		~	+	-	
					+		
							_
		OK	Apply	Cancel	0		

Figure 34. DB Joiner: Joiner Settings

To join the result back to the original data, we use the *DB Joiner* node, which joins two database tables based on joining column(s) of both tables. In the *Joiner* settings tab, there are options to choose the join mode, whether Inner Join, Full Outer Join, etc, and the joining column(s).

	- 0	
iner Settings Column Selection Flow Variables Job	Manager Selection Memory Policy	
Top Input (left' table)		
Manual Selection	n 🔿 Wildcard/Regex Selection 🔿 Type Selection	
Exclude		
T et		
T Filter		
No columns in this list	> I Year	^
	I Month	
	< I CRSDepTime	
		, I I
© Enforce auduring		
Enforce exclusion		
No columns in this list	S Dest	
No columns in this list	S Dest GROUP_COUNT AVG(ActualElapsedTime)	
No columns in this list	S Dest L GROUP_COUNT I AVG(ActualElapsedTime)	
No columns in this list	S Dest L GROUP_COUNT I AVG(ActualElapsedTime)	
No columns in this list	> S Dest L GROUP_COUNT I AVG(ActualElapsedTime)	
No columns in this list	> S Dest L GROUP_COUNT I AVG(ActualElapsedTime)	
Enforce exclusion	> S Dest L GROUP_COUNT I AVG(ActualElapsedTime)	
Inter No columns in this list Output Enforce exclusion	> S Dest L GROUP_COUNT I AVG(ActualElapsedTime)	
Inter No columns in this list No columns in this list	> S Dest	
Inter No columns in this list No columns in this list	> S Dest	
Inter No columns in this list No columns in this list	> S Dest	
No columns in this list No columns in this list Ouplicate Column Handling Filter duplicates Don't execute On't execute Append suffix (automatic)	Image: Section of the section of th	
No columns in this list No columns in this list Ouplicate Column Handling Filter duplicates On't execute On't execute Append suffix (automatic) Append custom suffix: (*)	> S Dest	
No columns in this list No columns in this list No columns in this list Duplicate Column Handling	Image: Set L GROUP_COUNT Image: AvG(ActualElapsedTime)	
No columns in this list No columns in this list Ouplicate Column Handling Filter duplicates On't execute Append suffix (automatic) Append custom suffix: (*)	Image: Section of the section of th	

Figure 35. DB Joiner: Column Selection

In the *Column Selection* tab you can select which columns from each of the table you want to include in the output table. By default the joining columns from bottom input will not show up in the output table.

1

Advanced Query Building

Sometimes, using the predefined DB nodes for manipulating data in database is not enough. This section will explain some of the DB nodes that allow users to write their own SQL queries, such as DB Query, DB Query Reader, and Parametrized DB Query Reader node.



Figure 36. Example workflow with advanced query nodes

Each DB manipulation node, that gets a DB data object as input and returns a DB data object as output, wraps the incoming SQL query into a sub-query. However some databases don't support sub-queries, and if that is the case, please use the *DB Query Reader* node to read data from the database.

The figure below shows the configuration dialog of the *DB Query* node. The configuration dialog of other advanced query nodes that allow user to write SQL statements provide a similar user experience. There is a text area to write your own SQL statement, which provides syntax highlighting and code completion by hitting *Ctrl+Space*. On the lower side there is an *Evaluate* button where you can evaluate the SQL statement and return the first 10 rows of the result. If there is an error in the SQL statement then an error message will be shown in the Evaluate window. On the left side there is the Database Metadata Browser window that allows you to browse the database metadata such as the tables and views and their corresponding columns. The *Database Column List* contains the columns that are available in the connected database table. Double clicking any of the items will insert its name at the current cursor position in the SQL statement area.

📐 Dialog - 0:11 - DB Query	- □ >	(
File		
Settings Flow Variables Job Manager Selection Memory Poli	licy	
Database Metadata Browser	SOL Statement	-
	1 SELECT *, CASE WHEN "DepDelay" < 5 THEN 'No delay'	1
fligh	2 ELSE CASE WHEN "DepDelay" between 5 and 45 then 'Small delay'	
SCHEMA	3 ELSE 'Big delay' END END AS delaycategory	
E-Po PUBLIC	4 FROM #table# AS "table"	
i in the second		
I Year		
I DavofMonth		
DayOfWeek		
□ DepTime ✓		
Estimate and the		
Fetched 3 minutes ago		
		4
Flow Variable List Database Column List	Preview results: Evaluate	
s knime.workspace Year	Row ID Year Month DayofM DayOf DepTime	
DavofMonth	Row0 1987 10 14 3 741 7 A	
DayOfWeek	Row1 1987 10 15 4 729 7	
DepTime	Row2 1987 10 17 6 741 7	
CRSDepTime	Row3 1987 10 18 7 729 7	
ArrTime	Row4 1987 10 19 1 /49 /	
CRSArrTime	Row5 1967 10 21 5 726 7	
UniqueCarrier EliabtNum		
	OK Apply Cancel 🕐	

Figure 37. Configuration dialog of the DB Query node

DB Query

The *DB Query node* modifies the input SQL query from an incoming database data connection. The SQL query from the predecessor is represented by the place holder #table# and will be replaced during execution. The modified input query is then available at the outport.

DB Query Reader

Executes an entered SQL query and returns the result as KNIME data table. This node does not alter or wrap the query and thus supports all kinds of statements that return data.

1 This node supports other SQL statements beside SELECT, such as DESCRIBE TABLE.

Parameterized DB Query Reader

This node allows you to execute a SQL query with different parameters. It loops over the input KNIME table and takes the values from the input table to parameterise the input SQL query. Since the node has a KNIME data table input it provides a type mapping tab that allows you to change the mapping rules. For more information on the Type Mapping tab, please refer to the Type Mapping section.

Database Structure Manipulation

Database Structure Manipulation refers to any manipulation to the database tables. The following workflow demonstrates how to remove an existing table from a database using the *DB Table Remover* and create a new table with the *DB Table Creator* node.



Figure 38. Example of a database structure manipulation workflow

DB Table Remover

🛕 Dialog - 0:15 - DB	Table Remover					_		\times			
File											
Cottingo et av			•								
Seturigs Flow Varia	bles Job Manager Selection	Memory Po	су								
DB Table Selector											
Schema: PUBLIC		Table:	flights			Selec	ct a table				
cascade (WARN Fail if table does	Cascade (WARNING: This will remove dependent objects if supported by the database) Fail if table does not exist										
		0k		Apply	Cancel	()				

Figure 39. DB Table Remover configuration dialog

This node removes a table from the database defined by the incoming database connection.

Executing this node is equivalent to executing the SQL command DROP. In the configuration dialog, there is an option to select the database table to be removed. The configuration is the same as in the *DB Table Selector* node, where you can input the corresponding Schema and the table name, or select it in the Database Metadata Browser.

The following options are available in the configuration window:

Cascade: Selecting this option means that removing a table that is referenced by other tables/views will remove not only the table itself but also all dependent tables and views. If this option is not supported by your database then it will be ignored.

Fail if table does not exist: Selecting this option means the node will fail if the selected table does not exist in the database. By default, this option is not enabled, so the node will still execute successfully even if the selected table does not exist in the database.

DB Table Creator

▲ Dialog - 0:16 - DB Table Creator File	-		×						
Table Creator Settings Flow Variables Job Manager Selection Memory Policy									
Settings Columns Keys Additional Options Dynamic Type Settings Dynamic Keys Settings									
Table Settings Schema:									
Table name: flights	Table name: flights								
Create temporary table	Create temporary table								
🗌 Fail if table exists									
Dynamic Settings									
OK Apply Cance	I (D							

Figure 40. DB Table Creator: Settings

This node creates a new database table. The table can be created either manually, or dynamically based on the input data table spec. It supports advanced options such as

specifying if a column can contain null values or specifying primary key or unique keys as well as the SQL type.

When the *Use dynamic settings* option is enabled the database table structure is defined by the structure of the input KNIME data table. The *Columns* and *Keys* tabs are read only and only help to verify the structure of the table that is created. The created database table structure can be influenced by changing the type mapping e.g. by defining that KNIME double columns should be written to the database as string columns the *DB Table Creator* will choose the string equivalent database type for all double columns. This mapping and also the key generation can be further influenced via the *Dynamic Type Settings* and *Dynamic Key Settings* tabs.

In the Settings tab you can input the corresponding schema and table name. The following options are available:

Create temporary table: Selecting this will create a temporary table. The handling of temporary tables, such as how long it exists, the scope of it, etc depends on the database you use. Please refer to your database vendor for more details on this.

Fail if table exists: Selecting this will make the node fail with database-specific error message if the table already exists. By default, this option is disable, so the node will execute successfully and not create any table if it already existed.

Use dynamic settings: Selecting this will allow the node to dynamically define the structure of the database table e.g. column names and types based on the input KNIME table and the dynamic settings tabs. Only if this option is enabled will the *Dynamic Type Settings* and *Dynamic Column Settings* tab be available. The mappings defined in the *Name-Based SQL Type Mapping* have a higher priority than the mappings defined in the *KNIME-Based SQL Type Mapping*. If no mapping is defined in both tabs, the default mapping based on the Type Mapping definitions of the database connector node are used. Note that while in dynamic settings mode the *Columns* and *Keys* tab become read-only to allow you a preview of the effect of the dynamic settings.

▲	Dialog - 0:16 - DB Table Creator			×
File				
Ta	ble Creator Settings Flow Variables Job Manager Selection	Memory Policy		
5	attings Columns Keys Additional Options Dynamic Type St	ettings Dynamic Keys Settings		
	Reys Additional Options Dynamic Type of			
C	olumn Name	Column Type	Not Null	
	Year	integer		~
	Month	integer		
	DayofMonth	integer		
Щ	DayOfWeek	integer		
벁	DepTime	integer	<u> </u>	_
H	CRSDepTime	Integer	<u> </u>	_
H	Arrime CDCAssTine	integer	<u> </u>	- 11
낱	CRSAFF TIME	Integer	<u> </u>	- 11
위	EliabtNum	val Criai (255)		- 11
H	TaiNum	varchar(255)	<u> </u>	- 11
F		integer		-
llt	CRSElansedTime	integer		- 11
s	AirTime	varchar(255)	+	- 11
lŤ	ArrDelay	integer		- 11
lt	DepDelay	integer		
S	Origin	varchar(255)		
S	Dest	varchar(255)		
	Distance			
	Add	Remove All		
		OK Apply Cancel	0	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	\bullet	

Figure 41. DB Table Creator: Columns

In the *Columns* tab you can modify the mapping between the column names from the input table and their corresponding SQL type manually. You can add or remove column and set the appropriate SQL type for a specific column. However, if the *Use dynamic settings* is selected, this tab become read-only and serves as a preview of the dynamic settings.

In the *Key* tab you can set certain columns as primary/unique keys manually. As in the *Columns* tab, if the *Use dynamic settings* is enabled, this tab become read-only and serves as a preview of the dynamic settings.

In the *Additional Options* tab you can write additional SQL statement which will be appended after the CREATE TABLE statement, e.g storage parameter. This statement will be appended to the end of the automatically generated CREATE TABLE statement and executed as a single statement.

In the *Dynamic Columns Settings* there are two types of SQL Type Mapping, the Name-Based and the KNIME-Based.

• In the *Name-Based SQL Type Mapping* you define the default SQL type mapping for a set of columns based on the column names. You can add a new row containing the name pattern of the columns that should be mapped. The name pattern can either be a

string with wildcard or a regular expression. The mappings defined in the *Name-Based SQL Type Mapping* have a higher priority than the mappings defined in the *KNIME-Based SQL Type Mapping*.

• In the *KNIME-Type-Based SQL Type Mapping* you can define the default SQL type mapping based on a KNIME data type. You can add a new row containing the KNIME data type that should be mapped.

In the *Dynamic Keys Settings* you can dynamically define the key definitions based on the column names. You can add a new row containing the name pattern of the columns that should be used to define a new key. The name pattern can either be a string with wildcard or a regular expression.



Supported wildcards are * (matches any number of characters) and ? (matches one character) e.g. KNI* would match all strings that start with KNI such as KNIME whereas KNI? would match only strings that start with KNI followed by a fourth character.

DB Manipulation

This section describes various DB nodes for in-database manipulation, such as DB Delete, DB Writer, DB Insert, DB Update, DB Merge, and DB Loader node, as well as the database transaction nodes.



Figure 42. Example of DB Manipulation

DB Delete

This node deletes rows from a selected table in the database. The input is a DB Connection port that describes the database, and also a KNIME data table containing the values which define which rows to delete from the database. It deletes data rows in the database based on the selected columns from the input table. Therefore all selected column names need to exactly match the column names inside the database. Only the rows in the database table that match the value combinations of the selected columns from the KNIME input data table will be deleted.

The figure below shows the configuration dialog of the *DB Delete* node. The configuration dialog of the other nodes for DB Manipulation are very similar. You can enter the table name and its corresponding schema or select the table name in the Database Metadata Browser by clicking *Select a table*.

In addition the identification columns from the input table need to be selected. The names of the selected KNIME table columns have to match the names in the selected database table. All rows in the database table with matching values for the selected columns from the input KNIME data table will be deleted. In SQL this is equivalent to the WHERE columns. There are three options:

- *Fail on error*: if selected, the node will fail if any errors occur during execution otherwise it will execute successfully even if one of the input rows caused an exception in the database.
- Append delete status columns: if selected, it will add two extra columns in the output table. The first column contains the number of rows affected by the DELETE statement. A number greater or equal to zero indicates that the operation was performed successfully. A value of -2 indicates that the operation was performed successfully but the number of rows affected is unknown. The second column will contain a warning message if any exists.
- *Disable DB Data output port*: If selected, it will disable the DB Data output port and the execution of the metadata query at the end of the node execution which might cause problems with databases that do not support subqueries.

▲ Dialog - 2:118 - DB Delete File					_		×
Settings Output Type Mapping Flow Variables Memory Policy							
Table to delete Schema: PUBLIC Batch Size: 1,000 + Select identification columns (WHERE in SQL)	e: flights delete status	columns	Disable DB Data o	Dutput por	Sele	ct a table	
Manual Selection Wildow Exclude Filter CRSElapsedTime AirTime AirTime AirTime ArrDelay DepDelay DepDelay Distance TaxiIn TaxiOut Cancelled CancellationCode Diverted ConsiderDelay CancellationCode Diverted ConsiderDelay CancellationCode Diverted ConsiderDelay CancellationCode ConsiderDelay CancellationCode Diverted ConsiderDelay CancellationCode ConsiderDelay ConsiderDela	>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	ection () 1 Include - Filter S Origin S Dest	Type Selection				
	ОК		Apply	Cancel	()	

Figure 43. Configuration dialog of the DB Delete node

The *Output Type Mapping* tab allows you to define mapping rules from KNIME types to database types. For more information on this, please refer to the Type Mapping section.

DB Writer

This node inserts the selected values from the input KNIME data table into the specified database tables. It performs the same function as the DB Insert node, but in addition it also creates the database table automatically if it does not exist prior inserting the values. The newly created table will have a column for each selected input KNIME column. The database column names will be the same as the names of the input KNIME columns. The database column types are derived from the given KNIME types and the Type Mapping configuration. All database columns will allow missing values (e.g. NULL).

Please use the DB Table Creator node if you want to control the properties of the created database table.

There is also an option to overwrite an existing table by enabling the option *Remove existing table* in the configuration window. Enabling the option will remove any table with the given name from the database and then create a new one. If this option is not selected, the new data rows will be appended to an existing table. Once the database table exists the node will write all KNIME input rows into the database table in the same way as the DB Insert node.

DB Insert

This node inserts the selected values from the input KNIME data table into the specified database tables. All selected column names need to exactly match the column names within the database table.

DB Update

This node updates rows in the specified database table with values from the selected columns of the input KNIME data table. The identification columns are used in the WHERE part of the SQL statement and identify the rows in the database table that will be updated. The columns to update are used in the SET part of the SQL statement and contain the values that will be written to the matching rows in the selected database table.

DB Merge

The *DB Merge* node is a combination of the *DB Update* and *DB Insert* node. If the database supports the functionality it executes a MERGE statement that inserts all new rows or updates all existing rows in the selected database table. If the database does not support the merge function the node first tries to update all rows in the database table and then inserts all rows where no match was found during the update. The names of the selected KNIME table

columns need to match the names of the database table where the rows should be updated.

DB Loader

This node performs database-specific bulk loading functionality that only some databases (e.g. Hive, Impala, MySQL, PostgreSQL and H2) support to load large amounts of data into an existing database table.



Most databases do not perform data checks when loading the data into the table which might lead to a corrupt data table. The node does perform some preliminary checks such as checking that the column order and column names of the input KNIME data table are compatible with the selected database table. However it does not check the column type compatibility or the values itself. Please make sure that the column types and values of the KNIME table are compatible with the the database table.

Depending on the database an intermediate file format (e.g. CSV, Parquet, ORC) is often used for efficiency which might be required to upload the file to a server. If a file needs to be uploaded, any of the protocols supported by the file handling nodes and the database can be used, e.g. SSH/SCP or FTP. After the loading of the data into a table, the uploaded file gets deleted if it is no longer needed by the database. If there is no need to upload or store the file for any reason, a file connection prevents execution.

Some databases such as MySQL and PostgreSQL support file-based and memory-based uploading which require different rights in the database. For example, if you do not have the rights to execute the file-based loading of the data try the memory-based method instead.

1

If the database supports various loading methods (file-based or memorybased), you can select the method in the *Options* tab, as shown in the example below. Otherwise the *Loader mode* option will not appear in the configuration dialog.

🛆 Dialog - 2:119 - DB Loader	- 🗆 ×
File	
Options Advanced Flow Variables Memory Policy	
Schema: PUBLIC	•
Table: flights	Select a table
Target folder:	V Browse
Loader mode	
Memory stream	
Load the data by streaming from memory.	
Load the file from the KNIME server/machine.	
○ Remote file	
Load the file from the database server/machine.	
OK Apply	Cancel

Figure 44. DB Loader: Option

Depending on the connected database the dialog settings may change. For example, MySQL and PostgreSQL use a CSV file for the data transfer. In order to change how the CSV file is created go to the *Advanced* tab.

F	📐 Dialog ile	- 0:17 - DB	Loader					_		×
	0.11	Advanced	el . v . i i							
	Options	Advanced	Flow Variables	Job Manager Selection	Men	nory Policy				
				Column separator:		,				
				Missing value patte	ern:	W				
				Quote:						
				Quote replacemen	t:					
				Line ending:		SYST 🗸				
				Character set:		UTF-8 🗸				
					ОК	Apply	Canc	el	D	

Figure 45. DB Loader: Advanced

DB Transaction Nodes

The database extension also provides nodes to simulate database transaction. A transaction allows you to group several database data manipulation operations into a single unit of work. This unit either executes entirely or not at all.

DB Transaction Start

The *DB Transaction Start* node starts a transaction using the input database connection. As long as the transaction is in process, the input database connection cannot be used outside of the transaction. Depending on the isolation level, other connections might not see any changes in the database while the transaction is in process. The transaction uses the default isolation level of the connected database.

DB Transaction End

The *DB Transaction End* node ends the transaction of the input database connection. The node ends the transaction with a commit that makes all changes visible to other users if executed successfully. Otherwise the node ends the transaction with a rollback returning the database to the state at the beginning of the transaction.

This node has 2 input ports. The first one is the transactional DB connection port which should be connected to from the end of the transaction chain. The second port should contain the transactional DB connection from the output of the *DB Transaction Start* node. If

the transaction is successful and a commit is executed, the DB connection from the first input port will be forwarded to the output port, otherwise in case of a rollback, the DB connection from the second input port will be forwarded.

The figure below shows an example of the transaction nodes. In this example, the transaction consists of two DB Writer nodes that write data to the same table consecutively. If an error occurs during any step of the writing, the changes will not be executed and the database will be returned to the previous state at the beginning of the transaction. If no error occurs, the changes to the database will be commited.



Figure 46. DB Transaction Nodes

Type Mapping

The database framework allows you to define rules to map from database types to KNIME types and vice versa. This is necessary because databases support different sets of types e.g. Oracle only has one numeric type with different precisions to represent integers but also floating-point numbers whereas KNIME uses different types (integer, long, double) to represent them.

Especially date and time formats are supported differently across different databases. For example the zoned date time type that is used in KNIME to represent a time point within a defined time zone is only supported by few databases. But with the type mapping framework you can force KNIME to automatically convert the zoned date time type to string before writing it into a database table and to convert the string back into a zoned date time value when reading it.

The type mapping framework consists of a set of mapping rules for each direction specified from the KNIME Analytics Platform view point:

- Output Type Mapping: The mapping of KNIME types to database types
- Input Type Mapping: The mapping from database types to KNIME types

Each of the mapping direction has two sets of rules:

- *Mapping by Name*: Mapping rules based on a column name (or regular expression) and type. Only column that match both criteria are considered.
- *Mapping by Type*: Mapping rules based on a KNIME or database type. All columns of the specified data type are considered.

The type mapping can be defined and altered at various places in the analysis workflow. The basic configuration can be done in the different connector nodes. They come with a sensible database specific default mapping. The type mapping rules are part of the *DB Connection* and *DB Data* connections and inherited from preceding nodes. In addition to the connector nodes provide all database nodes with a KNIME data table a *Output Type Mapping* tab to map the data types of the nodes input KNIME columns to the types of the corresponding database columns.

The mapping of database types to KNIME types can be altered for any *DB Data* connection via the *DB Type Mapper* node.

DB Type Mapper

The *DB Type Mapper* node changes the database to KNIME type mapping configuration for subsequent nodes by selecting a KNIME type to the given database Type. The configuration dialog allows you to add new or change existing type mapping rules. All new or altered rules are marked as bold.

partifiction	Flow Variables	Job M	anager Select	tion Memory Policy			
Mapping by Name							
Column Name		Regex	Source Type	e	Mapping	0	
ArrTime			VARCHAR		\rightarrow String \rightarrow Zoned Date Time		~
Mapping by Type				Marcia		•	~
Database Type				Mapping		0	
BOOLEAN				→ Boolean → Boolear	n value		^
BIT				→ Boolean → Boolear	n value		
TINYINT				\rightarrow Integer \rightarrow Number	(integer)		
CMALL TNIT				\rightarrow Integer \rightarrow Number	(integer)		
SMALLINI				\rightarrow Long \rightarrow Number	(long)	C	
INTEGER				\rightarrow Long \rightarrow Number (lo	ong)		
INTEGER BIGINT				Double Mumber	(double)		
INTEGER BIGINT FLOAT				\rightarrow Double \rightarrow Number	()		

Figure 47. DB Type Mapper configuration dialog

Rules from preceding nodes can not be deleted but only altered.

i

Migration

This section explains how to migrate your workflow that contains old database nodes (legacy) to the new database framework. The Workflow Migration Tool can be used to guide you through the process and convert the database legacy nodes to the corresponding new database nodes. For the mapping between the legacy and the new nodes, please look at the list in the Node Name Mapping section.



All previously registered JDBC drivers need to be re-registered. For more information on how to register a driver in the new database framework, please refer to the Register your own JDBC drivers section.

Workflow Migration Tool



The workflow migration tool assists you to migrate existing workflows that contain legacy database nodes to the new database nodes. The tool does not change any existing workflow but performs the migration on a copy of the original workflow.

As an example, we can see in the figure below a workflow that contains database legacy nodes. The goal is to use the Workflow Migration Tool to help us migrating the legacy nodes to the new database nodes.



Figure 48. Workflow containing Database Legacy nodes

In order to start the Workflow Migration tool we simply need to open the workflow containing the database legacy nodes that you want to migrate. A message will appear at the top of the workflow with the option to migrate the workflow (see figure above).

Clicking on *Migrate workflow...* will open the migration wizard window as shown below. In this window, you can change the workflow to migrate (the one containing the database legacy

nodes), and enter the name for the new workflow, which is a copy of the old workflow but with the database legacy nodes replaced with the new ones (if available). The default name for the new workflow is the name of the old workflow with (*migrated*) attached as suffix.

i

The original workflow will not be modified throughout the migration process.

🛆 Migrate						×
Migrate KNIME workflow						*
Select the workflow to migrate	<u>.</u>					
This wizard guides you through the process of migrating your KNIME workflow from the old database framework to the new one. Select the workflow you want to migrate and specify the name of the migrated workflow. In the next step KNIME will check your workflow for potential problems.						
The original workflow is never	modified in the process.					
The workflow migration tool is try and discuss any suggestion	still in preview. We will continue to add s or problems on the KNIME forum at h	d new and rev ttps://forum.	ise existing function knime.com.	ality. You are welco	ome to g	jive it a
Select workflow to migrate:	LOCAL:/simple_database_example				S	elect
Destination workflow path:	LOCAL:/					
Destination workflow name:	simple_database_example (migrated)					
		< Back	Next >	Finish	Car	ncel

Figure 49. Migration Tool: Select the workflow

Click *next* to get to the next page, as shown below. At this stage the workflow will be analysed, and all database legacy nodes for which a migration rule exists will be listed here, along with their equivalent new nodes. The tool also performs a preliminary check and shows any potential problems. If you agree with the mapping suggestion, click *Next* to perform the migration process.

🛕 Migrate				×	
Migrate K	Migrate KNIME workflow				
Inspect the	potential problems.				
#ID	Name	Message			
(i) 1	H2 Connector (legacy)	Replaced by H2 Connector.			
(i) 2	Database Table Selector (legacy)	Replaced by DB Table Selector.			
(i) 3	Database GroupBy (legacy)	Replaced by DB GroupBy.			
(i) 4	Database Joiner (legacy)	Replaced by DB Joiner.			
(i) 5	Database Connection Table Writer (legacy)	Replaced by DB Connection Table Writer.			
		< Back Next > Finish	Car	icel	

Figure 50. Migration Tool: Show the potential mapping

After the migration process is finished, you can see the migration report like the one shown below. If any warnings or problems happened during the migration process, corresponding messages will be shown in the report. You also have the option to save and open the migration report in HTML format.

	🔪 Migrate					
N	Migrate KNIME workflow Choose whether to save the migration report.					
v	Workflow "simple_database_example" has been successfully migrated to the new nodes.					
	Original #ID (port)	Migrated #ID	Original Name	Message		
	A 5	5	Database Connection Table Writer (legacy)	Tried to convert table name as well as possible. correctness.	Please	check it for
	① 1	1	H2 Connector (legacy)	Replaced by H2 Connector.		
	(i) 2	2	Database Table Selector (legacy)	Replaced by DB Table Selector.		
	(i) 3	3	Database GroupBy (legacy)	Replaced by DB GroupBy.		
	(j) 4	4	Database Joiner (legacy)	Replaced by DB Joiner.		
	(j) 5	5	Database Connection Table Writer (legacy)	Replaced by DB Connection Table Writer.		
Save migration report to: C:\Users\knime\simple_database_example (migrated).html Browse Open the migration report after finish Image: Comparison of the migrated workflow after finish						
				< Back Next > Finish		Cancel

Figure 51. Migration Tool: Migration report

The figure below shows the migrated workflow where all database legacy nodes are replaced by the new database nodes while keeping all the settings intact.



Figure 52. New workflow containing migrated DB nodes

Disabling the workflow migration message

If you don't want to migrate and want to disable the migration message, click on *Disable this* message in the message. The *Preferences* \rightarrow *Databases* (*legacy*) page will open where you can uncheck the option Offer the migration of workflows that contain legacy database nodes as shown in the figure below. Click Apply and Close to save the setting and the message will not appear anymore if you open a workflow containing legacy database nodes. To reverse this setting, simply open *Preferences* \rightarrow *Databases* (*legacy*) page again and enable the check box.



Figure 53. Disabling migration message

Node Name Mapping

The table below shows the mapping between the database legacy nodes and the new database nodes.

Database Legacy nodes	New Database nodes
Amazon Athena Connector	Amazon Athena Connector
Amazon Redshift Connector	Amazon Redshift Connector
Database Apply-Binner	DB Apply-Binner
Database Auto-Binner	DB Auto-Binner
Database Column Filter	DB Column Filter
Database Column Rename	DB Column Rename
Database Connection Table Reader	DB Reader
Database Connection Table Writer	DB Connection Table Writer
Database Connector	DB Connector
Database Delete	DB Delete
Database Drop Table	DB Table Remover
Database GroupBy	DB GroupBy
Database Joiner	DB Joiner
Database Looping	Can be replaced with Parameterized DB Query Reader
Database Numeric-Binner	DB Numeric-Binner
Database Pivot	DB Pivot
Database Query	DB Query
Database Reader	DB Query Reader
Database Row Filter	DB Row Filter
Database Sampling	DB Sampling
Database Sorter	DB Sorter
Database SQL Executor	DB SQL Executor

Database Legacy nodes	New Database nodes
Database Table Connector	Can be replaced with DB Connector and DB Table Selector
Database Table Creator	DB Table Creator
Database Table Selector	DB Table Selector
Database Update	DB Update
Database Writer	DB Writer
H2 Connector	H2 Connector
Hive Connector	Hive Connector
Hive Loader	DB Loader
Impala Connector	Impala Connector
Impala Loader	DB Loader
Microsoft SQL Server Connector	Microsoft SQL Server Connector
MySQL Connector	MySQL Connector
Parameterized Database Query	Parameterized DB Query Reader
PostgreSQL Connector	PostgreSQL Connector
SQL Extract	DB Query Extractor
SQL Inject	DB Query Injector
SQLite Connector	SQLite Connector
Vertica Connector	Vertica Connector
-	Microsoft Access Connector
-	DB Insert
-	DB Merge
-	DB Column Rename (Regex)

Database Legacy nodes	New Database nodes
-	DB Partitioning
-	DB Type Mapping

Server Setup

This section contains everything related to executing workflows that contain database nodes on KNIME Server.

JDBC drivers on KNIME Server

KNIME Server allows you to define customization profiles to automatically set up JDBC drivers on its own executors as well as KNIME Analytics Platform clients.

Instead of customization profiles, it is also possible to register JDBC drivers directly on the executor with a preferences file. In this case however, the preferences of the server executor and all KNIME Analytics Platform clients need to be kept in sync manually, so that the same drivers are available on both ends.

Server-side steps

- Create a profile folder inside <server-repository>/config/client-profiles. The name
 of the folder corresponds to the name of the profile. The folder will hold preferences
 and other files to be distributed.
- 2. Copy the . jar file that contains the JDBC driver into the profile folder.
- 3. Inside the profile folder, create a preferences file (file name ends with .epf) with the following contents:

```
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/database_type=<DATABASE>
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/driver_class=<DRIVER_CLASS_NAME>
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/paths/0=${profile:location}/<DRIV
ER_JAR>
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/url_template=<URL_TEMPLATE>
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/version=<DRIVER_VERSION>
```

Where:

- <DRIVER_ID>: A unique ID for the JDBC driver, consisting only of alphanumeric characters and underscores.
- <DATABASE>: The database type. Please consult the preference page shown in Register your own JDBC drivers for the list of currently available types.
- <DRIVER_CLASS_NAME>: The JDBC driver class, for example oracle.jdbc.OracleDriver for Oracle.

- <DRIVER_JAR>: The name of the .jar file (including the file extension) that contains the JDBC driver class. Note that the variable \${profile:location} stands for the location of the profile folder on each client that downloads the customization profile. It will be automatically replaced with the the correct location by each client.
- <URL_TEMPLATE>: The JDBC URL template to use for the driver. Please refer to the JDBC URL Template section for more information. Note that colons (:) and backslashes (\) have to be escaped with a backslash. Example:

jdbc\:oracle\:thin\:@<host>\:<port>/<database>

- <DRIVER_VERSION>: The version of the JDBC driver e.g. 12.2.0. The value can be chosen at will.
- 4. KNIME Server executors need to be made aware of a customization profile, by adding this information to the knime.ini file, so that they can request it from KNIME Server. Please consult the respective section of the KNIME Server Administration Guide on how to set this up.
- Please note that there are database-specific examples at the end of this section.

Client-side steps

KNIME Analytics Platform clients need to be made aware of a customization profile so that they can request it from KNIME Server. Please consult the respective section of the KNIME Server Administration Guide for a complete reference on how to set this up.

In KNIME Analytics Platform, you can go to File \rightarrow Preferences \rightarrow KNIME \rightarrow Customization Profiles. This opens the Customization Profiles page where you can choose which KNIME Server and profile to use. The changes will take effect after restarting KNIME Analytics Platform.

To see whether the driver has been added, go to $File \rightarrow Preferences \rightarrow KNIME \rightarrow Databases$. In this page, drivers that are added via a customization profile are marked as *origin: profile* after the driver ID (see figure below). These drivers can be edited but not deleted. To delete a profile driver, please go to the *Customization Profiles* page and unselect the respective profile.
A Preferences				_		×
type filter text		Databases			⇔ - ⇒	• •
 General Help Install/Update Java KNIME Big Data Customization Profi 		Here you can load additional database drivers from Jar or Zip archives. Registered drivers are available in the corresponding database specific connector nodes and the generic DB Connector node. Drivers that have [Profile] as prefix are automatically added via a KNIME Server customization profile. These drivers can be edited but not deleted. To delete a profile driver go to the Customization Profiles preferences page. List of database driver preferences:				
Data Storage		Name	DB Type	Version	Edit	
Databases Databases (legacy) H2O JavaScript Views KNIME Explorer KNIME GUI Kerberos Master Key Meta Info Preference	•	Oracle [ID: Oracle, origin: profile]	oracle	12.2.0 Restore Defaults	Add Remo Up Dow	ve n
< >			Ap	oply and Close	Cancel	

Figure 54. DB Preferences page

Default JDBC Parameters

Default JDBC Parameters provide a way for server admins to inject JDBC parameters on JDBC connections made from workflows running on KNIME Server. These parameters take precedence over values specified in the connector node. To specify an additional JDBC parameter, add the following lines to the .epf file of your customization profile:

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/attributes/additional/org.knime.databas
e.util.DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/<JDBC_PARAMETER>/type=<TY
PE>
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/attributes/additional/org.knime.databas

e.util.DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/<JDBC_PARAMETER>/value=<V ALUE>

Where:

- <DRIVER_ID>: The unique ID for the JDBC driver.
- <JDBC_PARAMETER>: The name of the JDBC parameter to set.
- <TYPE> and <VALUE>: A type and value that specifies what to set the JDBC parameter to.

<TYPE> and <VALUE> can be chosen as follows:

- Setting <TYPE> to CONTEXT_PROPERTY allows to specify workflow context related properties. <VALUE> can be set to one of:
 - context.workflow.name: The name of the KNIME workflow.
 - context.workflow.path: The mountpoint-relative workflow path.
 - context.workflow.absolute-path: The absolute workflow path.
 - context.workflow.user: The name of the KNIME Server user that executes the workflow.
 - context.workflow.temp.location: The path of the workflow temporary location.
 - context.workflow.author.name: The name of the workflow author.
 - context.workflow.last.editor.name: The name of the user who last edited the workflow.
 - context.workflow.creation.date: The creation date of the workflow.
 - context.workflow.last.time.modified: The last modified time of the workflow.
- Setting <TYPE> to CREDENTIALS_LOGIN allows to specify the *login name* from a credentials flow variable. Set <VALUE> to the name of the flow variable. Please note that the value is the **name** of the credentials flow variable to get the login from but not the login itself.
- Setting <TYPE> to CREDENTIALS_PASSWORD allows to specify the *password* from a credentials flow variable. Set <VALUE> to the name of the flow variable. Please note that the value is the **name** of the credentials flow variable to get the password from but not the password itself.
- Setting <TYPE> to FLOW_VARIABLE allows to specify a flow variable. Set <VALUE> to the name of the flow variable.
- Setting <TYPE> to LITERAL allows to specify a literal value that does not undergo any further substitution. Set <VALUE> to the literal value.
- Setting <TYPE> to LOCAL_URL allows to specify a URL in <VALUE>, such as a "knime" URL.
- Please note that there are database-specific examples at the end of this section.

i

Reserved JDBC Parameters

Certain JDBC parameters can cause security issues when a workflow is executed on KNIME Server, e.g. DelegationUID for Impala/Hive connections using a Simba based driver. Such parameters can be marked as *reserved* to prevent workflows from using them on KNIME Server. To set a parameter as reserved, add the following lines to the .epf file of your customization profile:

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/attributes/reserved/org.knime.database. util.DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/<JDBC_PARAMETER>=true

Or the shorter version:

```
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/<DRIVER_ID>/attributes/reserved/*/knime.db.connecti
on.jdbc.properties/<JDBC_PARAMETER>=true
```

Where:

- <DRIVER_ID>: The unique ID for the JDBC driver.
- <JDBC_PARAMETER>: The name of the JDBC parameter.



Please note that there are database-specific examples at the end of this section.

Example: Oracle

In this example we will register the proprietary Oracle JDBC driver on KNIME Server:

- 1. Download the proprietary Oracle JDBC driver.
- Create the profile folder inside <server-repository>/config/client-profiles and name it Oracle (for example).
- 3. Copy ojdbc8.jar from the downloaded driver into the newly created profile folder.
- 4. In the profile folder, create a new file called oracle.epf (for example) with the following contents:

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/Oracle/database_type=oracle /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/Oracle/driver_class=oracle.jdbc.OracleDriver /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/Oracle/paths/0=\${profile:location}/ojdbc8.jar /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/Oracle/url_template=jdbc\:oracle\:thin\://<ho st>\:<port>/<database> /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/Oracle/version=12.2.0

Example: Apache Hive™

Connections to Apache Hive require further setup steps depending on the used JDBC driver. In this example we will show how to:

- 1. Register the proprietary Hive JDBC driver provided by Cloudera on KNIME Server.
- 2. Configure user impersonation on KNIME Server (for both embedded and proprietary Hive JDBC driver).

Proprietary Simba-based JDBC driver registration

- If the use of embedded open-source *Apache Hive JDBC Driver* is preferred, skip to the next section.
- 1. Download the proprietary Hive JDBC driver from the Cloudera website.
- Create the profile folder inside <server-repository>/config/client-profiles and name it ClouderaHive (for example).
- 3. Copy HiveJDBC41.jar from the downloaded JDBC driver into the newly created profile folder.
- 4. In the profile folder, create a new preferences file called hive.epf (for example) with the following contents:

```
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/database_type=hive
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/driver_class=com.cloudera.hive.
jdbc41.HS2Driver
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/paths/0=${profile:location}/Hiv
eJDBC41.jar
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/url_template=jdbc\:hive2\://<ho
st>\:<port>/[database]
/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/version=2.6.0
```

5. If, as recommended, KNIME Server has to impersonate workflow users, go to the next section.

User impersonation on Hive

This example sets up the Hive JDBC driver (embedded or proprietary) so that KNIME Server will impersonate workflow users on JDBC connections.

Activating user impersonation on Hive depends on the used JDBC driver:

• For the embedded Apache Hive JDBC driver, add the following lines to the KNIME Server preferences file.

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/hive/attributes/additional/org.knime.database.util. DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/hive.server2.proxy.user/type=CON TEXT_PROPERTY

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/hive/attributes/additional/org.knime.database.util. DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/hive.server2.proxy.user/value=co ntext.workflow.user

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/hive/attributes/reserved/*/knime.db.connection.jdbc
.properties/hive.server2.proxy.user=true

• For the proprietary Simba-based JDBC driver, add the following lines to the preferences file (use the preferences file created in the previous step (step 4).

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/attributes/additional/org.knime.datab ase.util.DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/DelegationUID/type=CONT EXT_PROPERTY

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/attributes/additional/org.knime.datab ase.util.DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/DelegationUID/value=con text.workflow.user

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_hive/attributes/reserved/*/knime.db.connec tion.jdbc.properties/DelegationUID=true

Example: Apache Impala™

In this example we will register the proprietary Impala JDBC driver provided by Cloudera on KNIME Server. This example sets up the driver so that KNIME Server will impersonate workflow users on JDBC connections.



If you use the embedded open-source *Apache Hive JDBC Driver* (for Impala), you don't need to do this step. However, please note that in this case user impersonation on KNIME Server is not possible due to limitations of the driver.

- 1. Download the the proprietary Impala JDBC from the Cloudera website.
- 2. Create the profile folder inside <server-repository>/config/client-profiles and

name it ClouderaImpala (for example).

- Copy ImpalaJDBC41.jar from the downloaded JDBC driver into the newly created profile folder.
- 4. In the profile folder, create a new preferences file called impala.epf (for example) with the following contents:

/instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera impala/database type=impala /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_impala/driver_class=com.cloudera.imp ala.jdbc.Driver /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_impala/paths/0=\${profile:location}/I mpalaJDBC41.jar /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_impala/url_template=jdbc\:impala\:// <host>\:<port>/[database] /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_impala/version=2.6.0 /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_impala/attributes/additional/org.kni me.database.util.DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/Delegatio nUID/type=CONTEXT_PROPERTY /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_impala/attributes/additional/org.kni me.database.util.DerivableProperties/knime.db.connection.jdbc.properties/Delegatio nUID/value=context.workflow.user /instance/org.knime.database/drivers/cloudera_impala/attributes/reserved/*/knime.d b.connection.jdbc.properties/DelegationUID=true

Note that the last three lines use the DelegationUID JDBC parameter to force user impersonation (**recommended**). If you do not want KNIME Server to impersonate workflow users you can remove the last three lines.





KNIME AG Talacker 50 8001 Zurich, Switzerland www.knime.com info@knime.com

The KNIME® trademark and logo and OPEN FOR INNOVATION® trademark are used by KNIME AG under license from KNIME GmbH, and are registered in the United States. KNIME® is also registered in Germany.